A Thesis

entitled

Effects of Air vs. Air+Soil Heating During a Simulated Heat Wave on White Oak

(Quercus alba) and Black Oak (Quercus velutina)

by

Nicole E. Lightle

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science Degree in Biology

Scott A. Heckathorn, PhD, Committee Chair

Daryl L. Moorhead, PhD, Committee Member

Wayne D. Shepperd, PhD, Committee Member

Patricia R. Komuniecki, PhD, Dean College of Graduate Studies

The University of Toledo

May 2013

Copyright 2013, Nicole Elizabeth Lightle

This document is copyrighted material. Under copyright law, no parts of this document may be reproduced without the expressed permission of the author.

An Abstract of

Effects of Air vs. Air+Soil Heating During a Simulated Heat Wave on White Oak

(Quercus alba) and Black Oak (Quercus velutina)

by

Nicole E. Lightle

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science Degree in Biology

The University of Toledo

May 2013

Extreme weather events are a growing focus of global climate change research. Extreme events, which occur abruptly and unpredictably, are often more detrimental to terrestrial vegetation than gradual shifts in climate. One type of event, the summer heat wave, may already be increasing in some areas of the world. Large-scale reductions in Net Primary Productivity and mortality have been reported during heat waves in forested ecosystems. Unfortunately, our understanding of how abrupt heat stress affects woody species during heat waves lags behind our knowledge of herbaceous species that have been more widely studied in experimental manipulations. A few studies of herbaceous species also suggest that the coupling of soil heating to air heating can change the overall plant response to heat waves. To investigate air vs. air+soil heating in woody species, we manipulated the temperature of both shoots and roots separately for both white and black oak seedlings by insulating the soil during heat-stress to the shoot (35 vs. 40°C for 4 days, white oak; 35°C for 8 days, black oak). Interestingly, at moderate heat-stress temperature $(35^{\circ}C)$, net photosynthesis declined and internal CO₂ concentration of leaves increased more when the roots were insulated in both species. Hence, concurrent soil warming

prevented metabolic damage to leaves during moderate heat-stress, suggesting that direct heat to the roots increased shoot thermotolerance. In both experiments, differences in air *vs.* air+soil heating effects on root respiration were directly related to differences in soil temperatures, such that root respiration was higher with air+soil heating. In neither experiment were soil temperature effects related to plant water status. These results suggest that both direct and indirect effects of soil warming may occur in woody species during a heat wave, but that the response may depend on the severity and duration of the heat-stress. Future research is needed to determine the underlying mechanism for differences between air *vs.* air+soil heating during a heat wave.

Because my happiest childhood memories were spent playing in a forest which is no longer extant, this thesis is dedicated to the Lorax and all the children who look around their world, letting it fill their head with questions, and dream of becoming scientists.

Acknowledgements

I would first and foremost like to thank my family for their continued support, which gives me the strength to continue to follow my dreams. I am proud and happy to finally be on the path to becoming a scientist; without their love and encouragement I would never had made it this far. I'd like to thank my committee members for their kind guidance and assistance during the final semester of my masters. I'd also like to thank Dr. Weintraub for allowing me to attend his lab meetings and for showing me that in many ways dirt (*i.e.* soil) can actually be very interesting! I'd like to thank all those at UT involved in the NSF GK-12 program which allowed me to experience many unique opportunities during my masters including working at Bowsher High School. I would also like to give special thanks to Mr. Bourland, who invited me into his classroom as a fellow colleague and provided me many wonderful opportunities to learn how to become a better teacher. In that regard, I would also like to acknowledge the students at Bowsher who helped motivate and inspire me on a daily basis. They showed me that a student's enthusiasm to learn can only be limited by the experiences and opportunities that are available to them. I also wanted to thank my labmates, especially Sasmitta, whose desire to show kindness to everybody and the ability to drop everything to help out another student, is truly admirable. And finally, I'd like to thank my advisor who, in knowing my love for physiology, extended me the wonderful opportunity to learn about and experience the inner workings of a tree.

Table of Contents

Abstr	act	iii			
Ackn	owledgements	vi			
Table	rable of Contents v				
List o	of Figures	ix			
1	Introduction	1			
2	Methods and Procedures	6			
	2.1 Plant Propagation	6			
	2.2 Preliminary Experiment	7			
	2.3 Main Experiment- Heat Treatments	8			
	2.3.1 Root Insulation	9			
	2.4 Measurements	11			
	2.4.1 Gas Exchange	11			
	2.4.2 Leaf Water Potential	12			
	2.4.3 Soil Temperature	12			
	2.4.4 Biomass	12			
	2.4.5 Root Respiration	12			
	2.5 Statistical Analysis	13			
3	Results	14			
	3.1 Experiment 1 (Quercus alba)	14			

3.1.1 Soil Temperature		
	3.1.2 Gas Exchange	14
	3.1.3 Leaf Water Potential	16
	3.1.4 Root Respiration	18
	3.1.5 Biomass	19
	3.2 Experiment 2 (Quercus velutina)	20
	3.2.1 Soil Temperature	20
	3.2.2 Gas Exchange	21
	3.2.3 Leaf Water Potential	23
	3.2.4 Root Respiration	23
	3.2.5 Biomass	24
4	Discussion	27
	4.1 Shoot Effects	28
	4.2 Root Effects	29
	4.3 Conclusion	31
Refere	ences	33

List of Figures

2-1	Q. alba seedlings and root boxes used to insulate the soil in Experiment 1	9
2-2	Q. velutina seedlings and root boxes used to insulate the soil in Experiment 2	10
3-1	Soil temperature of <i>Q. alba</i> after 6 hours of heat-stress at 35°C or 40°C	15
3-2	Net photosynthesis, stomatal conductance, and internal CO ₂ concentration of	
	Q. alba after a 4-day heat-stress treatment	16
3-3	Leaf water potential of <i>Q. alba</i> after a 4-day heat-stress treatment	17
3-4	Root respiration rate of <i>Q. alba</i> after a 4-day heat-stress treatment	18
3-5	Leaf and fine-root biomass of <i>Q</i> . <i>alba</i> after a 4-day heat-stress treatment	19
3-6	Leaf area and specific leaf mass of Q. alba after a 4-day heat-stress treatment	20
3-7	Soil temperature of <i>Q. velutina</i> after 6 hours of heat-stress at 35°C	21
3-8	Net photosynthesis, stomatal conductance, and internal CO ₂ concentration of	
	Q. velutina after an 8-day heat-stress treatment	22
3-9	Leaf water potential of <i>Q. velutina</i> after an 8-day heat-stress treatment	23
3-10	Root respiration rate of <i>Q. velutina</i> after an 8-day heat-stress treatment	24
3-11	Leaf biomass and total leaf area of Q. velutina after 4 or 8-days of heat-stress	
	treatment	25
3-12	Fine-root and tap-root biomass of <i>Q. velutina</i> after 4 or 8-days of heat-stress	
	treatment	26

Chapter 1

Introduction

Although global climate change is predicted to increase the global mean annual surface temperature by $1.5-4.5^{\circ}$ C over the next century, both the frequency and severity of extreme climatic events are also supposed to increase (IPCC 2007). One type of extreme weather event predicted to increase is the summer heat wave. A temperature anomaly that comes on suddenly, like a heat wave, can be more detrimental to a plant than a gradual warming, because of the lack of time for plant acclimation (Rennenberg *et al.* 2006). In addition, heat waves are typically accompanied by drought (De Boeck *et al.* 2010), which may then result in additive or synergistic negative effects on plants.

The majority of plant research on acute heat-stress is still focused on small herbaceous species, rather than larger woody species, which, due to their size, makes manipulating air temperature in experimental studies with adult trees difficult. For woody species, this technical difficulty means that we have little direct evidence for how longer events of acute heat-stress is going to affect trees during heat waves. Aside from a limited number of experimental manipulations done on tree seedlings, most of our knowledge of tree response to acute heat-stress comes from a few natural events, like the 2003 heat wave in Europe. This 2003 heat wave, which spanned the entire summer, was

preceded by drought and offered up temperature anomalies so severe, it was thought to provide direct evidence that a change in the frequency distribution of mean temperature was co-occurring, along with the gradual shift of the mean temperature to warmer conditions (Rebetez *et al.* 2006). A change in this frequency distribution would ultimately bring even more heat waves in the future, making impacts on terrestrial vegetation even more important to understand (Schar *et al.* 2004)

From events such as the 2003 heat wave, a combination of drought *x* heat has been shown to decrease forest Net Primary Production (NPP) and cause landscape-scale mortality in certain instances (Allen *et al.* 2010; Ciais *et al.* 2005). Proposed research to understand these events is still largely focused only on the water effect or has not been able to separate heat *vs.* drought effects, although heat in and of itself can be detrimental to trees (Hartmann 2011; McDowell *et al.* 2008). Heat-stress causes an immediate reduction in photosynthesis, increases respiration, and can cause water stress (Weis and Berry 1988). As with other abiotic stresses that occur simultaneously, individual response to heat *vs.* drought cannot be teased apart when both occur together (Mittler 2006). In the instance of the 2003 heat wave, the confounding of drought with heat does little to enhance our knowledge of how trees will react to heat alone, making more experimental manipulative studies needed.

Roots also have the potential to experience heat-stress effects, either directly through soil heating or indirectly via effects on the shoot (*e.g.*, via reduced carbon flux from shoot to roots, or increased shoot water demand). Direct heating has been imposed to soil in many manipulative studies designed to examine the thermotolerance of the root system (Graves *et al.* 1991). From these studies as well as others, we know that roots of

woody species have a small temperature tolerance range, often experiencing optimal growth at around 20-30°C (Graves *et al.* 1991; Perry 1982). But these studies, which only heated the soil, are likely to give different results than heating applied to both the root and shoot together (Huang *et al.* 2012). The discrepancy in results among types of heating treatments is due to direct and immediate effects of heating on the shoot during heat-stress. In shoots, there is typically an immediate decrease in photosynthesis and increase in shoot transpiration during heat-stress, which can affect the root system indirectly. The reduction in new photosynthate decreases food supply to the root, and increased transpiration in the shoot increases the demand for water on the root system. These two factors could lead to an indirect effect of heat-stress on the root system. Although this is true, few studies have looked at indirect (shoot only) *vs.* direct (shoot + root) heating effects on the root system (Huang *et al.* 2012).

The available literature indicates that heating the soil during acute heat-stress caused by air heating is more detrimental to both shoot and root functioning than shoot heating alone (Kuroyanagi and Paulsen 1988; Talanova et al. 2003; Udomprasert et al. 1995; Xu and Huang 2000). The few past studies of this type have been conducted almost exclusively on herbaceous species, and mostly on *Agrostis* species (bentgrass) by one group (Xu and Huang 2001). In fact, the only similar study conducted on a woody species that we are aware of is a recent investigation on *Prunus mira* Koehne (smooth-pit peach), which examined shoot *vs.* shoot+root heating effects on photosynthesis (specifically photosystem II), leaf water status, anti-oxidants, and abscisic acid (ABA) levels in leaves (Hao *et al.* 2012). In this study, heat-stress was imposed for 8 hours during only 1 day, and so, it does not inform us as to the potential cumulative effects of a

multiple day event, such as a naturally occurring heat wave. However, their results indicate that a woody species can exhibit a somewhat different response to soil heating than the herbaceous species examined so far (*e.g.*, increases in photosynthesis in woody species with shoot+root heating *vs*. decreases in herbaceous species). Further, the Hao *et al.* study did not monitor biomass or root function, and Huang *et al.* (2012) have shown that heat effects on roots are related mostly to effects on root carbon metabolism. Given the paucity of studies of this kind, especially in woody species, and the potential differences between woody and herbaceous species in how they are affected by heat (*e.g.*, greater likelihood of hydraulic failure in woody species); (Hartmann 2011; McDowell et al. 2008), more heat-stress research is needed in woody species if we are to understand the potential impacts of increasing heat waves on forests.

In this study, which examines the separate and combined effects of shoot and shoot+root heating on a woody species, we selected two species of *Quercus* (oak) which are common across the Eastern deciduous forests of North America. The genus *Quercus* is the largest tree genus in North America, with over 70 species in the United States (Johnson *et al.* 2009). Two oak subgenera exist: *Lepidobalanus* (the white-oak group) and *Erythrobalanus* (the red-oak group). *Quercus alba* (white oak) and *Quercus velutina* (black oak) are part of the white and red oak groups, respectively. Both species have similar ranges in North America: from southern Canada to northern Florida, and from the east coast to the eastern boarder of Kansas (Burns and Honkala 1990). The local distribution of oaks is influenced by physiography, soil moisture, and geology. *Q. alba* and *Q. velutina* are well adapted to survive in a wide range of soils and sites and are common in many areas, with *Q. alba* being slightly more tolerant of mesic sites, and *Q.*

velutina being slightly more tolerant of xeric sites (Johnson *et al.* 2009). As widely distributed trees, with similar ranges and moisture tolerances, *Q. alba* and *Q. velutina* are good model species to study effects of acute heat-stress in trees.

Chapter 2

Methods and Procedures

2.1 Plant Propagation

Quercus alba (white oak) was grown from 0-1 (1-yr-old) bare-root stock purchased from a Pennsylvania grower in May of 2011. Seedlings were planted in a peat-moss-based media (Pro-mix BX Mychorrhizae), using 20 *x* 80 cm pots to prevent pot-binding. Slow-release fertilizer (NPK + micros; Osmocote Plus Northern 15-9-12) was provided shortly after planting by top-coating the pots at the manufacturer's suggested "low fertilization rate" (4.1 kg/m³). Trees were grown in the greenhouse at *ca*. $28/28\pm5^{\circ}$ C night/day and *ca*. 520-1120 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), and were watered as needed to keep the soil moist. Plants were treated as needed with pesticides to control thrips, leaf-hoppers, and fungus gnats, and plants used in experiments had minimal insect damage at the start of the experiment.

Quercus velutina (black oak) was grown from seed stratified in a cold room for two months in wet sand. Acorns were planted into the same medium as above, using 5 x 18 cm rocket pots. Slow-release fertilizer was incorporated into the planting medium at the manufacturer's-recommended low-fertilization rate (3 g/L). Seeds were germinated in a growth chamber at $28^{\circ}C/20^{\circ}C$ day/night temperatures and at 200 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR during a 16-hr photoperiod. Soil was kept moist throughout the germination period through the use of watering trays. After two months of growth, seedlings were transplanted to 10 *x* 35 cm pots using the same soil and fertilizer mix as stated above for germination, and then plants were moved to a growth room set to $26^{\circ}C/26^{\circ}C$ day/night temperature and 400 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR during a 16-hr photoperiod. At this time, plants were provided 300 ml of 1/3-strength modified Hoagland's nutrient solution (pH 6.2) on a weekly basis.

2.2 Preliminary Experiment

To determine the temperatures required to yield moderate or severe heat-stress in our study species, an initial experiment was conducted to determine the temperature sensitivity of photosynthesis. Because Photosystem II (PSII) is highly sensitive to heat-stress, photosynthesis was monitored by measuring PSII fluorescence at various temperatures to determine the temperature at which PSII fluorescence begins to decline (Barua and Heckathorn 2006; Wang *et al.* 2008). PSII fluorin, as quantum yield in light-adapted leaves (F_v'/F_m'), was measured using a modulated chlorophyll fluorometer (model OS1-FL, Opti-sciences) on a newly-expanded leaf receiving full light. PSII function was measured at 28°C (*ca.* near-optimal ambient daytime growth temperatures), and then again as temperature was increased every half-hour for three hours (*i.e.*, measurements at 28, 35, 38, 41, 43, 45, and 47°C).

2.3 Main Experiment- Heat Treatments

Two separate main experiments were conducted for this investigation. An initial experiment was conducted with *Q. alba* subjected to air heating alone or air+soil heating, and in this experiment, trees were heat-stressed for 4 days at either 35 or 40° C. A second

experiment was conducted with a second species (*Q. veluntina*) to compare with soilheating effects observed in the first experiment, and to extend the duration of heat treatment; in this experiment, trees were heat-stressed at 35°C, and harvested at either 4 or 8 days.

Seedlings were exposed to a 6-hr heat treatment in a controlled-environment growth chamber for 4 days in Experiment 1 (*Q. alba*) and for 8 days in Experiment 2 (*Q. velutina*). Plants in Experiment 2 were acclimated to the growth chamber for one week prior to the start of the experiment. Plants were heated at either 35 or 40°C (= moderate or severe heat-stress, respectively, as determined in the preliminary experiment); controls were maintained at 28° C/20°C day/night temperatures for Experiment 1 and 26° C/20°C day/night temperatures for Experiment 2. A 14-hr photoperiod was used in both experiments, with light levels at *ca*. 800 µmol m⁻2 s⁻¹ PAR at the tops of the plants. Plants were well-watered throughout each experiment.

2.3.1 Root Insulation

To investigate effects of air heating vs. air+soil heating and if there are indirect effects of heating on roots (*i.e.*, effects of air heating on roots when soil heating does not occur), we compared plants which had roots insulated to limit soil warming during heat-stress to those which did not. Insulating root boxes were constructed from closed-cell foam (FOMULAR 250 rigid-foam exterior-wall sheathing); these boxes fully-enclosed the pots, the tops of the foam boxes were flush with the tops of pots, and a layer of foam was placed on top of soil within each pot (Figures 2-1 & 2-2).



Figure 2-1: In Experiment 1, *Quercus alba* seedlings were subjected to air heating alone (left) or air+soil heating (right) during a 6-hour daily heat-stress for 4 days at either moderate (35°C) or severe (40°C) heat-stress level.



Figure 2-2: In Experiment 2, $5^{-1/2}$ month-old *Quercus veluntina* seedlings (top and bottom left) were subjected to air heating alone (left) or air+soil heating (right) during a 6-hour daily heat-stress for 8 days at moderate heat-stress level (35° C).

2.4 Measurements

Table 2.1: Response variables measured in Experiment 1 and 2, with associated symbols and purpose of measurement.

Response Variable	Symbol	Purpose
Net Photosynthesis	P _n	Decreases with heat stress (stress level)
Internal [CO ₂]	C_i	↑ metabolic damage↓ stomatal limitation
Stomatal Conductance	G _s	↓ water stress
Leaf Water Potential	$\Psi_{\rm L}$	↑ cooling leaves↓ water stress
Root Respiration		↑ higher metabolism↓ damage or carbon limitation
Dry Biomass (Leaf/Stem/Root)		Relative growth among treatments

2.4.1 Gas Exchange

Leaf-level gas exchange measurements were made on illuminated fully-expanded leaves using an infrared-gas analyzer-based system (IRGA) (Li-6400, LICOR, Lincoln, NE, USA), including photosynthesis (P_n; net CO₂ exchange), stomatal conductance to water vapor (G_s), and internal CO₂ concentration (C_i) (as in Barua and Heckathorn 2006; Wang *et al.* 2008). Gas exchange measurements were made with cuvette conditions at 1500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR for Experiment 1 and 1,250 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for Experiment 2,370 μ mol mol⁻¹ CO₂, and at respective treatment temperatures, starting 4-hrs after the heatstress began (and completed within 2-hrs) on one leaf per plant in all treatment plants.

2.4.2 Leaf Water Potential

Leaf water potential (Ψ_L) was measured on fully-expanded illuminated leaves at the end of the heat-stress period on one leaf per plant in all treatments using a pressure chamber (Model 600, PMS Instruments Co., Corvallis, Oregon) (as in Barua and Heckathorn 2006; Wang *et al.* 2008).

2.4.3 Soil Temperature

Soil temperature was measured at two depths (5 and 20 cm) in each pot in both the morning and evening, before and after heat-stress treatments, using a standard soil thermometer.

2.4.4 Biomass

On day 5 of Experiment 1 and days 5 and 9 of Experiment 2, plants were harvested and separated into leaves, stem, tap-root, and fine root tissue. Leaf disks were also harvested from fully-expanded leaves at this time for calculation of specific leaf mass and total leaf area. All tissue samples were oven dried for at least 48-hrs at 70°C before weighing.

2.4.5 Root Respiration

Root respiration was measured during each harvest by collecting four similarlysized non-woody root samples per plant. Detached root samples were then incubated in a 50-ml plastic tube sealed with parafilm and tape. Tubes were kept at room temperature (18-20°C) or at 35°C for at least 4-hrs before CO₂ measurement. The concentration of CO₂ in the tubes was measured by withdrawing a sub-sample with a syringe and injecting it into the IRGA. Respiration rates (mass based) were calculated after correcting for initial ambient CO_2 in the tubes at the time of sealing.

2.5 Statistical Analysis

Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed, followed by Holm's Sidak method for multiple comparisons as a post-hoc test where appropriate (SigmaPlot 12.0 software). A *P*-value of 0.05 or less was considered statistically significant (values bolded in figures) and values between 0.05 and 0.1 are reported as marginally significant. For Experiment 1, gas exchange measurements, Ψ_L , and soil temperature were analyzed using a two-way ANOVA with temperature and root box as the main factors. Biomass and root respiration was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with treatment analyzed as the main factor. For Experiment 2, all data was analyzed using a three-way ANOVA, with temperature, root box, and day being the main factors.

Chapter 3

Results

3.1 Experiment 1 (Quercus alba)

3.1.1 Soil Temperature

In experiment 1, soil temperatures (of both controls and heated plants) were lower in the plants placed in root insulation boxes, and the soil temperature in the heated plants was maintained close to that of controls, both at 5 and 20-cm depth (Figure 3-1). Maximum soil temperature (T_{max}) in un-insulated soil was 30°C (+5-6°C above controls) for the moderate heat-stress treatment (35°C) and $T_{max} = 34^{\circ}C$ (+8-10°C above controls) for the severe treatment (40°C). Soil temperature returned to control values (*ca.* 23°C) each morning (data not shown), so that similar patterns in soil temperature were observed on the first and last days of the experiment.

3.1.2 Gas Exchange

Overall, net photosynthesis (P_n) and stomatal conductance (G_s) were lowered with heat-stress treatment, regardless of heat-stress temperature (Figure 3-2). At 35°C (moderate heat stress), P_n in plants in insulated root boxes was 57% lower than in plants with warmed soils, which were similar to controls. This pattern was reversed for internal CO₂ concentration (C_i), which increased when soil temperature was lower, indicating that



Figure 3-1: Mean ± 1 SE (n=4) soil temperature (5- and 20-cm depth) of *Q. alba* after six hours of heating at 35°C or 40°C for heat-stress plants, controls were maintained at 28°C. Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (shoot heating only) or not (shoot+root heating).

the decrease in P_n in heated plants with insulated roots was not caused by the decrease in G_s . At 40°C (severe heat stress), P_n , G_s , and C_i all decreased significantly with heat, but were similar between soil temperature treatment groups. Decreases in C_i at 40°C indicated an increase in stomatal limitation to P_n .



Figure 3-2: Effects of a 4-day heat-stress treatment on net photosynthesis (P_n), stomatal conductance (G_s), and internal CO₂ concentration (C_i) of *Q.alba*. Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (+) or not (-) and subjected to either 28/20°C day/night temperatures (control) or 35/40°C day (heat-stress) and 20°C night temperatures. Results are means ±1 SE, n=3-4. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

3.1.3 Leaf Water Potential

Leaf water potential (Ψ_L) declined significantly with heat at 35°C, but heated

plants did not differ from controls during the 40°C heat-stress (Figure 3-3), indicating that



Figure 3-3: Effects of a 4-day heat-stress treatment on leaf water potential (ψ_L) of *Q. alba.* Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (+) or not (-) and subjected to either 28/20°C day/night temperatures (control) or 35/40°C day (heat-stress) and 20°C night temperatures. Results are means ±1 SE, n=4. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

the larger decrease in G_s at 40°C (vs. 35°C) was sufficient to prevent declines in Ψ_L

during heating, but not at 35°C.

3.1.4 Root Respiration

Root respiration rate in roots incubated at 20°C did not differ significantly between heated and control plants, indicating that no damage to respiration occurred with heating (Figure 3-4). In general, root respiration increased slightly in roots incubated at 20 *vs.* 35°C, indicating a relatively small effect of temperature on root respiration. However, incubation at 35°C caused an increase in respiration rate that was 3 times higher in plants heat-stressed at severe temperatures (40°C) in un-insulated pots than controls, and this incubation temperature (35°C) was close to that of the soil temperature (T_{max} = 34°C) experienced by these plants during the experiment.



Figure 3-4: Effects of a 4-day heat-stress treatment on respiration rate of *Q. alba* roots incubated at two temperatures (20 and 35°C). Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (+) or not (-) and subjected to a $35/40^{\circ}$ C day (heat-stress) and 20° C night; controls were kept in the greenhouse at $28/28^{\circ}$ C day/night. Results are means ±1 SE, n=4. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

3.1.5 Biomass

Total leaf and fine root biomass did not change significantly with heat treatment (Figure 3-5), though leaf biomass tended to decrease at 40°C in warmed soils, while fine root biomass tended to decrease at 40°C at both high and low soil temperature. Total leaf area and specific leaf mass also did not change significantly with heat treatment (Figure 3-6), although leaf area tended to decrease with heating, especially in heat-stressed plants with un-insulated pots.



Figure 3-5: Effects of a 4-day heat-stress treatment on *Q. alba* leaf (top) and root mass (bottom). Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (+) or not (-) and subjected to a $35/40^{\circ}$ C day (heat-stress) and 20° C night; controls were kept in the greenhouse at $28/28^{\circ}$ C day/night. Results are means ± 1 SE, n=4. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.



Figure 3-6: Effects of 4-day heat-stress treatment on *Q. alba* leaf area (top) and specific leaf mass (bottom). Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (+) or not (-) and subjected to a $35/40^{\circ}$ C day (heat-stress) and 20° C night; controls were kept in the greenhouse at $28/28^{\circ}$ C day/night. Results are means ±1 SE, n=4. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

3.2 Experiment 2 (Quercus velutina)

3.2.1 Soil Temperature

In experiment 2, soil temperatures of heated plants were lower in the plants placed in boxes, with insulation maintaining soil temperature at control levels at 20-cm, but not at 5-cm depth; ($T_{max} = 29^{\circ}C$, +6-8°C above controls) for heat-stress plants (Figure 3-7). Soil temperature in un-insulated pots (no box) returned to control values each morning (*ca.* 22°C) (data not shown), resulting in similar patterns in soil temperature being observed on days 1, 4, and 8.



Figure 3-7: Soil temperature (5- and 20-cm depth) of *Q. velutina* after six hours of heating at 35°C for heat stress plants, while unheated controls were maintained at 26°C. Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (shoot heating only) or not (shoot+root heating). Results are means ± 1 SE, n=6.

3.2.2 Gas Exchange

Both heat and root insulation decreased P_n throughout the experiment, so that heat-stressed plants in insulated root boxes had a 55% reduction in P_n as compared to warmed soils in the un-insulated (no-box) treatment group (Figure 3-8). Stomatal conductance (G_s) was also lowered by heat, while a box effect (negative) was only seen in heat-stressed plants. Both heat and root insulation increased C_i , indicating that heatand box-related decreases in P_n were not caused by stomatal closure, but rather by effects on photosynthetic metabolism.



Figure 3-8: Effects of an 8-day heat-stress treatment on net photosynthesis (P_n), stomatal conductance (G_s), and internal CO₂ concentration (C_i) of *Q. velutina*. Pots were placed in insulating root boxes or not and subjected to either 26/20°C day/night (control) or 35/20°C (heat) temperatures. Results are means ±1 SE, n=6. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

3.2.3 Leaf Water Potential

Neither heat nor soil temperature had a significant effect on Ψ_L , though there was a trend of decreasing Ψ_L in heated plants as the experiment progressed, such that by day 8, Ψ_L was slightly lower in heated *vs*. control plants (Figure 3-9).



Figure 3-9: Effects of an 8-day heat-stress treatment on leaf water potential (ψ_L) of *Q. velutina*. Pots were placed in insulating root boxes or not and subjected to either 26/20°C day/night (control) or 35/20°C (heat) temperatures. Results are means ±1 SE, n=6. ANOVA results for main factors are shown.

3.2.4 Root Respiration

At both 18 and 35°C incubation temperatures, root respiration rate was higher in heated *vs*. control plants on day 8. In contrast, on day 4, respiration was slightly higher in heated plants with un-insulated pots compared to the other treatments (Figure 3-10).

Respiration increased slightly with incubation temperature in all treatments.



Figure 3-10: Effects of an 8-day heat-stress treatment on respiration rate of *Q. velutina* roots incubated at two temperatures (18 and 35°C). Pots were placed in insulating root boxes or not and subjected to either $26/20^{\circ}$ C day/night (control) or $35/20^{\circ}$ C (heat) temperatures. Results are means ± 1 SE, n=5-6. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

3.2.5 Biomass

Leaf biomass was significantly lower in heated plants, especially on day 8 in insulated plants (heat *vs.* control) (1-way ANOVA within insulated plants on day 8 only, P<0.001) (Figure 3-11). There were no significant overall treatment effects on total leaf

area among the treatment groups; however, total leaf area was lower in heated *vs*. control insulated plants (2-way ANOVA within insulated plants only; P=0.009, day x temp. P=0.025). There were no significant overall treatment effects on fine-root biomass



Figure 3-11: Effects of an 8-day heat-stress treatment on leaf mass and area of Q. *velutina*. Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (+) or not (-) and subjected to either 26/20°C day/night (control) or 35/20°C (heat) temperatures. Results are means ±1 SE, n=6. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

among the treatment groups; however, root insulation had a marginally significant effect on heated plants (2-way ANOVA within heated plants only; P=0.065) (Figure 3-12). Tap-root biomass was marginally lower for heat-stressed plants, and this difference was similar for both insulated and un-insulated pots on both days.



Figure 3-12: Effects of an 8-day heat-stress treatment on root mass of *Q. veluntina*. Pots were placed in insulating root boxes (+) or not (-) and subjected to either $26/20^{\circ}$ C day/night (control) or $35/20^{\circ}$ C (heat) temperatures. Results are means ± 1 SE, n=6. ANOVA results for main factors within each panel are shown.

Chapter 4

Discussion

The objective of this study was to determine if woody plant responses to an abrupt heating event (or heat wave) differ between plants experiencing heating of the shoot only vs. shoot and root together (*i.e.*, air heating vs. air+soil heating). The limited research on this topic indicated that shoot+root heating is typically more stressful to plants than shoot heating alone, and that there can be indirect effects of heat-stress on the root system (*i.e.*, heat effects on roots in the absence of soil heating). However, prior studies focused on herbaceous species (mostly bentgrass species) (Huang et al. 2012), and the single previous study on a woody species (Hao et al. 2012) suggested that woody and herbaceous species may differ in their responses. Our results for two species of oak, indicated that plant responses to only air heating differed from air+soil heating, and that there were both direct and indirect effects on roots. Decreases in P_n, leaf mass and area, and fine-root mass during moderate heat-stress (35°C) were actually greater when roots were insulated from heating. Insulating roots resulted in soil temperature differences between insulated and un-insulated soil during heating, with insulated roots having lower in situ root respiration, but had little effect on leaf (Figures 3-3 & 3-9) or root water status (data not shown). Hence, the negative effects of root insulation during heating on growth

after 8 days of moderate heat-stress were likely correlated with decreases in P_n , but the reasons for the decrease in P_n are unclear (but see below).

4.1 Shoot Effects

Our results indicated that acute heat-stress can affect the physiology of oak seedling shoots. However, some heat-stress effects appeared to be independent of soil temperature, whereas other effects varied depending on the temperature in the root-zone of the plant. For example, direct heating of *Q. alba* and *Q. velutina* caused a significant decrease in G_s (stomatal conductance), but only a mild decrease in Ψ_L (leaf water potential), and these effects were unrelated to soil temperature. Water stress may cause a decrease in P_n due to stomatal closure, but a review on drought tolerance in oaks noted that water related stomatal closure does not occur in these species until Ψ_L reaches -2.30 (*Q. abla*) and -2.45 MPa (*Q. velutina*), which were lower than any Ψ_L values we found in this study (Abrams 1990). Also, the decreases in Ψ_L only occurred with moderate heatstress (35°C) and could not be correlated to decreases in P_n and G_s. The lack of a relationship between these parameters suggested that changes in the physiological functioning of the shoot were probably not related to water stress and instead were caused by heat alone.

Our data also suggest that high soil temperature can ameliorate aboveground plant responses to heat-stress. For example, heating the soil with the shoot (un-insulated pots) at moderate heat-stress (35° C) in *Q. alba* produced no difference in P_n and C_i from controls. In contrast, heat-stress applied to only the shoot (insulated pots) of *Q. alba* (and *Q. velutina*) decreased P_n and increased C_i, indicating metabolic damage to photosynthesis. Our results were similar to Hao *et al.* (2012) who found that maximum quantum yield of PSII (F_v/F_m') was only decreased in *Prunus mira* seedlings when the soil was insulated, indicating that damage to PSII was related to low soil temperature during heat-stress to the shoot. In contrast, other studies of herbaceous plants generally found that photosynthesis was impaired more when soil was warmed (Udomprasert et al. 1995; Xu and Huang 2000). At severe temperature heat-stress (40°C), soil temperature had little effect on the photosynthetic response of *Q. alba* to heat-stress, with both P_n and C_i levels dropping consistently for both heated and insulated soil treatments. Indeed, a severe heat-stress can induce different damages to photosynthesis than a moderate stress (Sharkey 2005), and other studies we could find did not define or quantify the heat-stress level experienced by plants (Hao et al. 2012; Udomprasert et al. 1995; Xu and Huang 2000). Our data however, indicated that the photosynthetic response of *Q. alba* and *Q. velutina* to heat-stress is affected by soil temperature, but only at a moderate heatstress level.

4.2 Root Effects

Root metabolism and biomass were also affected by heat-stress and these effects were only partially dependent on direct heating of the soil. Although a decrease in respiration would have indicated damage to the root system, respiration rates in heated plants showed a slight increase regardless of soil temperature. The consistency of this effect, which is independent of soil temperature, indicates an indirect effect on root function from heat-stress to the shoot, the exact mechanism of which remains unclear. However, the fact that respiration rates were also generally higher at higher incubation temperatures (20°C *vs.* 35°C), shows that increased respiration can be partially explained by the higher temperature of the soil in un-insulated pots, indicating a direct effect of soil

warming on root respiration. Although we do not know the cause of the respiration change, a study on sunflower grown at different soil temperatures found increased root respiration with soil temperature was mainly due to higher maintenance respiration (Szaniawski and Kielkiewicz 1982). The only notable difference in respiration rates in the present study was seen in *Q. alba* roots, which were markedly higher at the high temperature incubation (35°C vs.20°C). Xu and Haung (2000a) also found high air temperature raised respiration rates of creeping bentgrass in heated soils, but in their study, insulated roots maintained respiration rates similar to controls. Respiration rates also increased from day 4 to day 8 in *Q. velutina*, but the rate of this increase was higher in insulated pots than in un-insulated pots. Data from Xu and Huang (2000a) suggest that the increase in root respiration may be temporary in some species, declining back to control values within 8-13 days. Thus, the duration of the heat-stress may be an important factor influencing temperature effects on root respiration, so future research could examine this effect over a longer duration.

Although root respiration rates increased for all heat treatments, root biomass changed only for *Q. velutina*. There was a marginally significant (P=0.065) decrease in fine root biomass with heat-stress (35°C), but this decrease only occurred with low soil temperature (+box). Our results contrast with several studies done on herbaceous species, which showed that root biomass decreased more with combined shoot+root heating than shoot heating alone (Udomprasert et al. 1995; Xu and Huang 2000). A study of *Triticum aestivum* (wheat), however, found a similar decrease in root (and shoot) biomass when shoots were heated while soil temperature was low (35/25°C; shoot/root temperature). This decrease in biomass was only temporary, lasting for the first 14 days

of heat-stress, after which growth increased to control values indicating that our biomass response may have only been temporary (Kuroyanagi and Paulsen 1988). Although we only saw small heat effects on biomass in *Quercus* after 8 days, this is likely due to the relatively slow growth rate of woody species. However, lower photosynthate production combined with increased root respiration may have resulted in decreased root and shoot biomass in both heat-stress treatments regardless of soil temperature, if the study had gone on longer.

4.3 Conclusion

The results of this study on oak seedling responses to heat-stress indicated that the level of stress these plants experienced during a heating event was partially contingent on soil temperature. A temperature differential between heated air and insulated soil during heating caused a larger decrease in photosynthesis under moderate heat-stress temperatures, compared to plants experiencing both air and soil heating. The increase in internal CO₂ seen in both *Q. alba* and *Q. velutina* with heat-stress indicated metabolic damage to photosynthesis and occurred only in the insulated pots (no soil heating). The effect we found on photosynthesis was comparable to results of the only other similar study we could find on a woody species (Hao *et al.* 2012), but contradicted the more common studies of herbaceous species (Udomprasert et al. 1995; Xu and Huang 2000). The exact mechanism for this response is unknown, but could indicate that finer nuances of soil temperature regime during heat-stress plays a critical role in the level of stress a plant experiences. A few studies have found that ABA levels increase more in leaves when roots are heated in conjunction with shoots than when roots are heated alone (Hao et al. 2012; Talanova et al. 2003). Increased ABA levels in leaves are associated with

increasing thermotolerance of the shoot, a benefit that has been found in many other plant species although the mechanism for this has not been explained (Kumar *et al.* 2012; Larkindale and Huang 2004). Root respiration rate did tend to increase with heat-stress, indicating a greater carbon cost to the plant, so that an increase in carbon use (respiration) along with a decrease in carbon production (photosynthesis) could reduce the net carbon gain of these seedlings. Future research to understand these synergistic effects during multiple events and how they might impact the long-term carbon dynamics of plants would help determine the cumulative effects of heat waves on trees. The responses observed in this study suggest that heat waves associated with global climate change could have adverse effects on the regeneration, growth, and survival of temperate woody species, and that effects of air heating may differ compared to air+soil heating.

References

- Abrams, M.D. 1990. Adaptations and Responses to Drought in Quercus Species of North America. Tree Physiology. 7:227-238.
- Allen, C.D., A.K. Macalady, H. Chenchouni, D. Bachelet, N. McDowell, M. Vennetier, T. Kitzberger, A. Rigling, D.D. Breshears, E.H. Hogg, P. Gonzalez, R. Fensham, Z. Zhang, J. Castro, N. Demidova, J.-H. Lim, G. Allard, S.W. Running, A.
 Semerci and N. Cobb. 2010. A Global Overview of Drought and Heat-Induced Tree Mortality Reveals Emerging Climate Change Risks for Forests. Forest Ecology and Management. 259:660-684.
- Barua, D. and S.A. Heckathorn. 2006. The Interactive Effects of Light and Temperature on Heat-Shock Protein Accumulation in Solidago Altissima (Asteraceae) in the Field and Laboratory. American Journal of Botany. 93:102-109.
- Burns, R.M. and B.H. Honkala. 1990. Silvics of North America Ed. U.S.D.o. Agriculture. Forest Service, Oxford.
- Ciais, P., M. Reichstein, N. Viovy, A. Granier, J. Ogee, V. Allard, M. Aubinet, N.
 Buchmann, C. Bernhofer, A. Carrara, F. Chevallier, N. De Noblet, A.D. Friend, P.
 Friedlingstein, T. Grunwald, B. Heinesch, P. Keronen, A. Knohl, G. Krinner, D.
 Loustau, G. Manca, G. Matteucci, F. Miglietta, J.M. Ourcival, D. Papale, K.
 Pilegaard, S. Rambal, G. Seufert, J.F. Soussana, M.J. Sanz, E.D. Schulze, T.
 Vesala and R. Valentini. 2005. Europe-Wide Reduction in Primary Productivity
 Caused by the Heat and Drought in 2003. Nature. 437:529-533.

- De Boeck, H.J., F.E. Dreesen, I.A. Janssens and I. Nijs. 2010. Climatic Characteristics of Heat Waves and Their Simulation in Plant Experiments. Global Change Biology. 16:1992-2000.
- Graves, W.R., R.J. Joly and M.N. Dana. 1991. Water Use and Growth of Honey Locust and Tree-of-Heaven at High Root-Zone Temperature. HortScience. 26:1309-1312.
- Hao, H.-P., C.-D. Jiang, S.-R. Zhang, Y.-D. Tang and L. Shi. 2012. Enhanced Thermal-Tolerance of Photosystem Ii by Elevating Root Zone Temperature in Prunus Mira Koehne Seedlings. Plant and Soil. 353:367-378.
- Hartmann, H. 2011. Will a 385 Million Year-Struggle for Light Become a Struggle for Water and for Carbon?; How Trees May Cope with More Frequent Climate Change-Type Drought Events. Global Change Biology. 17:642-655.
- Huang, B., S. Rachmilevitch and J. Xu. 2012. Root Carbon and Protein Metabolism Associated with Heat Tolerance. Journal of Experimental Botany. 63:3455-3465.
- IPCC. 2007. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Johnson, P.S., S.R. Shifley and R. Rogers. 2009. The Ecology and Silviculture of Oaks, 2nd Edn. CAB International, Cambridge. 580 p.
- Kumar, S., N. Kaushal, H. Nayyar and P. Gaur. 2012. Abscisic Acid Induces Heat Tolerance in Chickpea (Cicer Arietinum L.) Seedlings by Facilitated Accumulation of Osmoprotectants. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum. 34:1651-1658.

- Kuroyanagi, T. and G.M. Paulsen. 1988. Mediation of High-Temperature Injury by Roots and Shoots During Reproductive Growth of Wheat. Plant, Cell & Environment. 11:517-523.
- Larkindale, J. and B. Huang. 2004. Thermotolerance and Antioxidant Systems in Agrostis Stolonifera: Involvement of Salicylic Acid, Abscisic Acid, Calcium, Hydrogen Peroxide, and Ethylene. Journal of Plant Physiology. 161:405-413.
- McDowell, N., W.T. Pockman, C.D. Allen, D.D. Breshears, N. Cobb, T. Kolb, J. Plaut, J. Sperry, A. West, D.G. Williams and E.A. Yepez. 2008. Mechanisms of Plant Survival and Mortality During Drought: Why Do Some Plants Survive While Others Succumb to Drought? New Phytologist. 178:719-739.
- Mittler, R. 2006. Abiotic Stress, the Field Environment and Stress Combination. Trends in Plant Science. 11:15-19.
- Perry, T.O. 1982. Tree Roots: Facts and Fallacies. Journal of Arbonculture. 8:197-211.
- Rebetez, M., H. Mayer, O. Dupont, D. Schindler, K. Gartner, J.P. Kropp and A. Menzel.
 2006. Heat and Drought 2003 in Europe: A Climate Synthesis. Ann. For. Sci.
 63:569-577.
- Rennenberg, H., F. Loreto, A. Polle, F. Brilli, S. Fares, R.S. Beniwal and A. Gessler.
 2006. Physiological Responses of Forest Trees to Heat and Drought. Plant
 Biology. 8:556-571.
- Schar, C., P.L. Vidale, D. Luthi, C. Frei, C. Haberli, M.A. Liniger and C. Appenzeller.
 2004. The Role of Increasing Temperature Variability in European Summer Heatwaves. Nature. 427:332-336.

- Sharkey, T.D. 2005. Effects of Moderate Heat Stress on Photosynthesis: Importance of Thylakoid Reactions, Rubisco Deactivation, Reactive Oxygen Species, and Thermotolerance Provided by Isoprene. Plant, Cell & Environment. 28:269-277.
- Szaniawski, R.K. and M. Kielkiewicz. 1982. Maintenance and Growth Respiration in Shoots and Roots of Sunflower Plants Grown at Different Root Temperatures. Physiologia Plantarum. 54:500-504.
- Talanova, V.V., T.V. Akimova and A.F. Titov. 2003. Effect of Whole Plant and Local Heating on the Aba Content in Cucumber Seedling Leaves and Roots and on Their Heat Tolerance. Russian Journal of Plant Physiology. 50:90-94.
- Udomprasert, N., P.H. Li, D.W. Davis and A.H. Markhart. 1995. Effects of Root Temperatures on Leaf Gas Exchange and Growth at High Air Temperature in Phaseolus Acutifolius and Phaseolus Vulgaris. Crop Sci. 35:490-495.
- Wang, D., S.A. Heckathorn, K. Mainali and E.W. Hamilton. 2008. Effects of N on Plant Response to Heat-Wave: A Field Study with Prairie Vegetation. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology. 50:1416-1425.
- Weis, E. and J.A. Berry. 1988. Plants and High Temperature Stress. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology. 42:329-346.
- Xu, Q. and B. Huang. 2000. Growth and Physiological Responses of Creeping Bentgrass to Changes in Air and Soil Temperatures. Crop Sci. 40:1363-1368.
- Xu, Q. and B. Huang. 2001. Lowering Soil Temperatures Improves Creeping Bentgrass Growth under Heat Stress. Crop Sci. 41:1878-1883.